

South Bend Redevelopment Commission

227 West Jefferson Boulevard, Room 1308, South Bend, IN

SOUTH BEND REDEVELOPMENT COMMISSION SCHEDULED REGULAR MEETING

February 9, 2023 – 9:30 am http://tiny.cc/RDC2023 or BPW Conference Room

Presiding: Marcia Jones, President

The meeting was called to order at 9:30 a.m.

1. ROLL CALL

Members Present:	Marcia Jones, President – IP Troy Warner, Vice-President – IP Vivian Sallie, Secretary - IP Eli Wax, Commissioner - IP Dave Relos, Commissioner – IP Leslie Wesley, Commissioner - V	IP = In Person V = Virtual
Members Absent:		
Legal Counsel:	Sandra Kennedy, Esq.	
Redevelopment Staff:	Mary Brazinsky, Board Secretary Joseph Molnar, RDC Staff	
Others Present:	Erik Glavich Laura Althoff Rachel Boyles Jitin Kain Charlotte Brach Matt Barrett Randy Rampola Emma Adlam Kyle Willis Benjamin Dougherty Aaron Perri Kara Boyles Chris Dressel Rachel Tomas Morgan Katrina Marquardt Leslie Biek Griffin Johnson Chris Gerard	DCI – IP DCI – V DCI – V Engineering – V Engineering – V Resident Barnes & Thornburg Baker Tilly Admin & Finance Admin & Finance VPA - IP Engineering - IP DCI – IP Common Council – V Resident – V Engineering - V The Hill – V Bear Brew - V

2. Approval of Minutes

• Approval of Minutes of the Regular Meeting of Thursday, January 26, 2023 Secretary Sallie noted that Commissioner Wax title is incorrect.

Upon a motion by Commissioner Relos, seconded by Vice-President Warner, the motion carried unanimously, with above mention change, the Commission approved the minutes of the regular meeting of Thursday, January 26, 2023.

3. Approval of Claims

Claims Submitted for February 24, 2023

Upon a motion by Secretary Sallie, seconded by Commissioner Relos, the motion carried unanimously, the Commission approved the claim for February 24, 2023

4. Old Business

5. New Business

A. River West Development Area

1. Resolution No. 3571 (Claey's Candy)

Mr. Molnar Presented Resolution No. 3571 (Claey's Candy). In April 2022 the Commission agreed to an option to purchase the land which includes the current Claey's Candy factory and three parcels that are part of the parking lot. Four Winds Field and the city have leased those parking spaces for a number of years. Claey's has expanded and built a new factory on Nimitz Parkway, and they have notified the city they are ready to move. The city is ready to exercise the option to purchase. This resolution gives staff the authority to go forward with that option.

Commissioner Wax asked what the price was.

Mr. Molnar stated it was \$550k for both the factory building and the parking lots.

Commissioner Wax asked if the city has a plan after the purchase of the property.

Mr. Molnar stated that the city has been interested in parking for some time now. There have been discussions with perhaps South Bend Housing Authority but no firm commitments at this time.

Commissioner Wax asked if we will re-coup the money.

Mr. Molnar stated we hope.

Commissioner Wax asked what the business perspective would be.

Mr. Molnar stated the value for the city is in the ownership of the parking lots for the fields. South Bend Housing is perhaps looking into a major renovation of that entire block. This also helped Claey's move and expand creating more jobs.

Upon a motion by Commissioner Wax, seconded by Vice-President Warner, the motion carried unanimously, the Commission approved Resolution No. 3571 (Claey's Candy) submitted on Thursday, February 9, 2023.

2. Seventh Amendment (REPA Bear Brew LLC)

Mr. Molnar Presented Seventh Amendment (REPA Bear Brew LLC). This is for the property formerly the Gates Service Center which was sold in 2016 to Bare Hands Brewery for the commitment of establishing a brewery and restaurant. During the most recent amendment they were to start construction on September 1st of the past year, that did not happen. They pulled demo permits and began getting the site ready for construction with demolition of some of the building. The next deadline was February 1st for a rough in inspection meaning the electric and everything was ready to frame up the walls and start finishing the space with an opening date of September 1, 2023.

Mr. Gerard contacted the city stating that the original construction was pushed back due to the construction company's projects and is asking for a project extension. We confirmed that HVAC and general construction permits have been pulled by the contractors and confirmed work is ongoing at the site.

Mr. Gerard stated that all the permits are pulled, and they are working to complete the project. Framing material and HVAC equipment were being delivered. Contractors are stating they should have it completed by March 1, 2023, so they can move forward.

Commissioner Relos asked how close the project is to the rough in inspection by the building department.

Mr. Gerard stated 50%. It should take approximately 3 weeks to complete.

Secretary Sallie thanked Mr. Gerard for coming in person to present the Commission with an update. She asked if he would come back and present an update closer to September.

Mr. Gerard stated he would.

Vice-President Warner asked if there is a restaurant portion to the building.

Mr. Gerard stated yes there would be a full-service restaurant with a small pilot brewery set-up of seven barrels which is like 14 full size kegs and 45 barrels per weekly production.

Secretary Sallie asked about parking according to the blueprint.

Mr. Gerard stated that the city asked for some curved areas and grass areas to make it more aesthetically pleasing to the customers.

Commissioner Wax states he understands construction delays and he is really looking forward to the project completion. He recommends coming forward before a deadline is missed, consulting with staff regarding changes or extensions.

Mr. Gerard stated he would be sure to do that.

Commissioner Relos asked if September 1, 2023, date is for certificate of occupancy?

Mr. Gerard stated yes. They are actually hoping to open by opening of baseball season but doubt that will happen.

Commissioner Relos noted that this project has been going on for a long time. When he worked for the city, he brought the documents out to their Granger operation to get them signed. As a note this has been going on for six years and there have been a number of other restaurants in the downtown area that have transformed older buildings without any problems.

Mr. Gerard stated that this project was a little more in-depth than those and then the pandemic was a delay and also legal issues with the city, but he feels that things have turned around and they are showing a consistent effort to finish.

Commissioner Relos noted that Rose Lily moved to a new location which was an empty building by Howard Park. The old Buttons and Bows has now turned into a bar/restaurant.

Mr. Gerard stated he does not feel like this is apples to apples, but they are doing their best to finish it by the deadline.

Upon a motion by Commissioner Wax, seconded by Vice-President Warner, the motion carried unanimously, the Commission Seventh Amendment (REPA Bear Brew LLC) submitted on Thursday, February 9, 2023.

3. Budget Request (LaSalle Park Improvements)

Mr. Perri Presented Budget Request (LaSalle Park Improvements). On the heels of a pretty comprehensive soil remediation at LaSalle Park that is just wrapping up, we seek to put park back into significantly better condition than it was originally found. We have a community driven plan that includes the addition of a restroom facility, a picnic pavilion, basketball/pickleball tennis courts, roller skating trail and some general connectivity and landscaping in the park. The total estimate plus contingency is \$1.33M, of which we have already taken \$500k from the park fund. We are asking the commission for \$874,571 from the River West TIF. Commission approval is requested.

Upon a motion by Commissioner Relos, seconded by Secretary Sallie, the motion carried unanimously, the Commission Budget Request (LaSalle Park Improvements) submitted on Thursday, February 9, 2023.

4. Budget Request (Kennedy SRTS)

Ms. Boyles Presented Budget Request (Kennedy SRTS). This is a request from the River West TIF for the Kennedy SRTS project which is an INDOT project in which federal funding is received which is a matching project. For the design, the city is responsible for initially budgeting 100% or the design but it is 80% reimbursable. The same is true for the construction, we provide 20% and the state covers the rest. We are getting ready to start design, which is mostly sidewalk, ADA curb ramps around Kennedy School trying to go as far as we can in terms of radius with the \$2M budget allocated. This request is for \$300k which will be 80% reimbursable.

President Jones asked if there was existing sidewalk?

Ms. Boyles stated that yes, it is all existing sidewalk that they are repairing. This covers striping and crosswalks too. \$2M is the construction grant amount.

Secretary Sallie asked what the completion date of the project would be.

Ms. Boyles state fiscal year 2023 so we will need to be under contract by May or June of this year working through the design this year, but she doesn't anticipate construction until June or July 2024. They take a little longer.

Upon a motion by Vice-President Warner, seconded by Secretary Sallie, the motion carried unanimously, the Commission approved Budget Request (Kennedy SRTS) submitted on Thursday, February 9, 2023.

B. River East Residential

1. Budget Request (Seitz Park Phase II)

Ms. Boyles Presented Budget Request (Seitz Park Phase II). This request is from River East Residential TIF in the amount of \$1M for Seitz Park Phase II which has multiple components. This will cover three of the outstanding engineering agreements which includes design elements. There have been some extensions and duration of this project which were longer than anticipated. The designer has spent more time on providing construction administration and design related to Gintz Road adjacent to the park and taking us into the new part of the park. There have been some unforeseen conditions related to the river wall with different structural elements that we have encountered in opening the park. This budget request will help cover the costs as well as additional repairs. Commission approval is requested.

Vice-President Warner asked for an updated timeline of completion.

Ms. Boyles stated August of 2023.

Upon a motion by Commissioner Relos, seconded by Vice-President Warner, the motion carried unanimously, the Commission approved Budget Request (Seitz Park Phase II) submitted on Thursday, February 9, 2023.

C. River East Development Area

1. Development Agreement (ND QOZB)

Mr. Glavich Presented Development Agreement (ND QOZB). Mr. Glavich Presented Budget Request (Appropriation Legal Fees Expense). This developer is the owner of the old St. Joseph Medical Center building that is just north of St. Joseph High School. This building has been vacant since 2014. The developer is converting the building into a 60-unit apartment building. Council has unanimously approved a tax abatement for this property. Twenty percent of its apartments will be available to low/moderate income households as outlined in the abatement. The developer has agreed to put \$12M worth of renovations into the building. This is a part of a larger plan the developer has for the property including townhomes or condos which would than exceed in excess of \$25M in development. The development agreement before you today only impacts the current building. Staff is asking for a \$500k commitment to assist the developer with upgrading drainage to the property; with any remaining dollar they would go towards exterior surrounding improvements. The developer is committed to completion of this project by the end of 2024.

Mr. Relos noted that a percentage is low/mod but is there college availability to the units.

Mr. Glavich states that is stipulated in the memorandum of agreement related to the tax abatement. The tax abatement is beyond when the development agreement would end.

Commissioner Wax asked for more information on the project.

Griffin Johnson stated the \$12M does not include the building acquisition. They are currently demolishing the inside of the building and have all of the interior walls drywalled. Electrical, plumbing and mechanical are in process. They have spent \$800k on demolition alone so far. Throughout the building is all new framing, electrical and plumbing. They are on track for June completion of the apartment renovations but will take approximately one more month to have them furnished and get IT services. It has been a very fast-paced project. We are hoping to be open for the Fall 2023 school year. We understand from the University that there is a need for graduate students as their building is being re purposed for undergraduate students.

Commissioner Wax what will happen beyond this project.

Mr. Johnson stated the plan is for 25 townhomes lining the existing streets and to the west of the property there will be a little dog park with lighting, security cameras, etc. We have provided a concept plan to the department of community investment, and we think we are well on our way with that project.

Mr. Glavich added that it has been a pleasure to work with Griff and their local representatives. They have asked a lot of questions and want to make sure they are complying with all of our requirements.

Commissioner Wax asked if we should anticipate another development agreement for the future development.

Mr. Johnson stated that he does not believe so. Hopefully this request will be connected to their second phase in terms of the storm drainage for the property.

Matt Barrett, resident, asked the commission, in the future to look into item 9.5 of the agreement regarding attorney fees in the event of litigation, mediation or arbitration between the parties that none of the parties shall be entitled to any award of attorney fees. Please consider this when writing agreements in case of breach of agreement.

Ms. Kennedy, per the commission's request, will look into this item.

Vice-President Warner stated that the council approved a tax abatement for this project.

Mr. Glavich stated that Council passed an 8-year abatement for the property. Estimates show that currently under the tax rate of last year the building would have accumulated approximately \$211k in taxes over 8 years. With this development the net taxes paid/estimated will be \$1.1M. That is without the townhomes.

Commissioner Wax stated that going forward in the future that it would be helpful to be aware of potential agreements that the city is engaging with developers. He fully supports this project and their next project.

Upon a motion by Commissioner Wax, seconded by Vice-President Warner, the motion carried unanimously, the Commission approved Development Agreement (ND QOZB) submitted on Thursday, February 9, 2023.

2. Budget Request (Appropriation Legal Fees Expense)

Mr. Glavich Presented Budget Request (Appropriation Legal Fees Expense). This is a request for \$150k from River East TIF to cover legal fees related to the litigation against Commerce Center Development, LLC. On January 12, 2023, the commission authorized the city to engage in litigation and contract with outside counsel to enforce the terms of the development agreement. Commission approval is requested.

South Bend Redevelopment Commission Regular Meeting – February 9, 2023

Commissioner Sallie asked if this would cover all of the fees.

Ms. Kennedy states this should be more than enough.

Commissioner Wax asked if we have entered into an agreement with the RDA.

Ms. Kennedy stated we are meeting on February 13th.

Upon a motion by Commissioner Wax, seconded by Vice-President Warner, the motion carried unanimously, the Commission approved Budget Request (Appropriation Legal Fees Expense) submitted on Thursday, February 9, 2023.

D. River West Development Area

1. Resolution No. 3572 (Regarding Special Tax SB 2023 Projects)

Mr. Glavich Presented Resolution No. 3572 (Regarding Special Tax SB 2023 Projects). Mr. Randy Rampola, Barnes and Thornburg noted that this is a concluding resolution for the Redevelopment Commission. The Commission has held a public hearing, approved a form of lease. This trailing resolution is the mechanics of lease financing. This lease is payable from TIF out of the River East and River West areas. In order to get the best interest rate in the market there would be a tax backup. This resolution provides the mechanics of that tax backup. Essentially, you are agreeing every year in August to make sure that you have sufficient TIF revenues to make the following lease payments over 12 months the following calendar year. This also provides for the lowest interest rate.

Common Council did approve the execution of the lease. They did approve the bond financing at Monday night's meeting. Tomorrow, the Redevelopment Authority will be asked to consider the actual bond resolution to authorize the issuance of the bonds. You'll also sign the lease. We're anticipating the first series of bonds that would fund the River East and River West improvements to be issued sometime in April 2023. The second series will come when the Beacon Improvement District improvements, public and private, have been finalized and that'll be later in the year at some point.

Commissioner Wax clarified that the Redevelopment Commission can issue a tax to cover on top of everyone's property tax?

Mr. Rampola stated that the tax would be levied upon the Redevelopment district which has boundaries within the city. As I mentioned before, as the city does with other financings that are outstanding, we would look to make sure that there are sufficient tax increment revenues in that case. It would be subject to the DLGF approval they would look at the tax and make sure it's sufficient to pay the debt service on the bonds and then the taxes would be collected.

Commissioner Wax asked Mr. Rampola if everything had been covered by bond counsel.

Mr. Rampola stated that we give our opinion relating to the validity of the bonds and make sure everything is lined up from our standpoint.

Commissioner Wax stated that at Council, the Beacon portion of the bonds wouldn't be issued until an agreement with Beacon was finalized with the city.

Mr. Glavich states that we will get confirmation of that and round back with the commission.

Upon a motion by Commissioner Wax, seconded by Secretary Sallie, the motion carried unanimously, the Commission approved Resolution No. 3572 (Regarding Special Tax SB 2023 Projects) submitted on Thursday, February 9, 2023.

E. South Side Development Area

1. Budget Request (High Street Improvements)

Mr. Dressel Presented Budget Request (High Street Improvements). This budget request is for \$200k for the High Street Sidewalk Project. This will be for the Miami Hills project that was adopted by council in 2020. Their priorities included the category of infrastructure. Mr. Dressel provided a map of the project improvement areas. Some of the High Street sidewalks are actually missing. This presented the highest priority from Donmoyer to Ridgedale. We have an opportunity to add a handicapped ramp to the curb and sidewalks. We hope to get this underway this year with completion in 2024. Commission approval is requested.

Commissioner Wax states that his districts students go to Monroe around the corner. It is very difficult to navigate this especially in the winter months. This will be a big benefit to the neighborhood.

Commissioner Relos asked if we have the right of way.

Mr. Dressel stated yes.

Upon a motion by Commissioner Wax, seconded by Vice-President Warner, the motion carried unanimously, the Commission approved Budget Request (High Street Improvements) submitted on Thursday, February 9, 2023.

6. Progress Reports

- A. Tax Abatement
- B. Common
- C. Other
- Mr. Bauer, who is out sent an email to be read that two low-income tax credit projects, Real America just east of Four Wins and well as project Thrive were approved. We also found out that the Monroe project was also approved with full approval coming in November with a total of 160 affordable units and 74 market rate units. Two projects are currently on RDC land.

7. Next Commission Meeting:

Visian & Sallie

Thursday, February 23, 2023

8. Adjournment

Thursday, February 9, 2023, 10:40 a.m.

Vivian Sallie, Secretary

Troy Warner, Vice-President